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COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 1 

MATTHEW R. WALSH 

19197 GOLDEN VALLEY RD #333 

SANTA CLARITA, CA 91387 

(661) 644-0012 

Plaintiff In Pro Per, 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, CENTRAL DISTRICT 

MATTHEW R. WALSH 

19197 GOLDEN VALLEY RD #333 

SANTA CLARITA, CA 91387, 

Plaintiff In Pro Per, 

vs. 

ROKOKO ELECTRONICS 

(AND DOES 1 THROUGH 50, INCLUSIVE) 

31416 AGOURA RD STE 118 

WESTLAKE VILLAGE, CA  

91361 

Defendant 

Case No.: 25STCV13828 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 

 

(Tortious Interference, Fraud, Intellectual 

Property Theft, Breach of Warranty, and 

Related Claims) 

 

 

VENUE AND JURISDICTION 

Plaintiff brings the matter before this Court, as Plaintiff can demonstrate 

Defendant has sufficient Nexus in Los Angeles, California to establish venue and jurisdiction 

within this Court. 

 

Defendant is a: 
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1. Multi-national corporation with an $80M valuation (Exhibit 97, 98) and 

offices in Denmark, Greece and the U.S. registered as a domestic 

corporation and doing extensive business in California in the 

entertainment industry. 

 

2. California Corporation with an advertised principal office in San 

Francisco: 166 Geary St, 15th Fl.  #63, San Francisco, CA 94108. Service 

upon any address such as PO box, UPS store, virtual office is permissible 

under California Code of Civil Procedure § 415.20. 

 

3. California Corporation (“Reg No. 3890148”) with a principal address of 

498 ALABAMA STREET, SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94110. Once a 

foreign entity establishes themselves as a domestic corporation they 

voluntarily submit to the jurisdiction of that state (in this case, California) 

and are no longer protected from service under the Hauge convention. 

 

4. California Corporation with a California bank account at Silicon Valley 

Bank, 3003 Tasman Drive, Santa Clara, CA 95954, ABA: 12**40***, 

Account: 3*0*3*3***, SWIFT: SVBKUS6S  

 

5. California Corporation with a registered agent located at  CORPNET 

INCORPORATED, 31416 AGOURA RD STE 118, WESTLAKE 

VILLAGE, CA 91361 which is located within Los Angeles County. 
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6. California Corporation which recognizes and charges sales tax within the 

Los Angeles County area.  

 

7. California Corporation with significant business ties to Los Angeles: 

 

8. Plaintiff is Los Angeles-based and is a customer of Defendant. 

 

9. Defendant’s operational servers (public and private) are all US/California 

based making California their operational and foundational nexus: 

a. ping.rokoko.com   [ 18.65.3.76 ] amazon San Francisco 

b. cdn-studio.rokoko.com [ 3.169.252.38 ] amazon San Fran.  

c. fw-api.rokoko.com  [ 13.226.225.121 ] amazon San Francisco 

d. rmp-gql-public.rokoko.com 3.167.192.77 ] amazon San Francisco 

e. id.rokoko.com  [ 13.52.115.166 ] amazon San Francisco 

f. rokoko-id-new.netlify.app 54.215.62.21 ] amazon San Francisco 

g. rmp-team-gql.rokoko.com [ 3.167.212.100 ] amazon San Fran. 

h. cdn-scene.rokoko.com [ 18.164.174.97 ] amazon L.A. 

 

Additionally: 
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1. Any and all Contracts and Agreements between Plaintiff and Defendant 

were and are executed and accepted and consideration provided from 

within Los Angeles California. 

 

2. Plaintiff’s damages/injury occurred in Los Angeles for a product 

Defendant sold to Plaintiff within Los Angeles. 

 

3. Defendant was served at his principal address as filed with the Court, as 

well as his San Francisco mailbox on another matter (25CHSC00490) 

validating both addresses as fit for service. 

 

JOINDER AND CONSOLIDATION 

 

Plaintiff asserts that all claims, including but not limited to: investor-related claims, 

consumer claims, intellectual property claims, are all interconnected in conceptual, 

technological, financial, operational and monetary capacities. Pursuant to California 

Rules of Court, Rule 3.300(a), Plaintiff’s claims are justified in consolidation and proper 

for this matter. (Coughlin v. Rogers, 130 F.3d 1348 (9th Cir. 1997), Simmons v. Ware, 

213 Cal.App.4th 1035 (2013)) 
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INTRODUCTION 

 

Plaintiff Matthew R. Walsh is a California-based video game developer with 

published titles on major platforms and active partnerships with globally recognized 

talent. Plaintiff is at end-stage development of an ambitious video game, of which has 

been halted due to Defendant’s actions. This action arises from a six-year relationship 

with Defendant Rokoko Electronics, a motion capture hardware company whose products 

are critical to animation and game production. 

 

What began as a standard vendor relationship turned sour after to around 40 

denied or ignored requests to remedy a simple SONG-BEVERLY turned into a filed 

small claims suit for no more than replacement hardware or parts (Case No. 

25CHSC00490). Plaintiff consented to ODR where Defendant there too refused to 

participate. Defendant requested mediation, Plaintiff accepted and attempted at least 5 

times to settle the matter. Defendant ignored all of them. Plaintiff requested proof of 

inventory and operations to settle, Defendant half-agreed and then disappeared letting the 

48-hour timer expire on the offer. Settlement talks ended. 

 

Plaintiff followed through with his weeks-long promise to bring a civil case for 

damages, undeterred, Defendant ignored that as well. Plaintiff began his civil suit and 

through Defendant’s own materials, revealed a broader scheme—an international 

enterprise allegedly built on deception, fraud, and the unauthorized commercialization of 

user-created intellectual property. At its core: a “burn-and-pay” venture capital model 
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that cyclically seeks yearly multi-million dollar influxes by openly misappropriating 

creative work. 

 

Defendant allegedly operates a single enterprise with two distinct roles: 

 

(a) The Left Hand: 

▪ Sells motion capture gear to creators who produce proprietary animation. 

▪ Actively avoids and declines warranty, refunds, replacements or repairs. 

▪ Simultaneously harvests that proprietary animation without consent: 

▪ Strips metadata to disassociate it from it’s owners copyright. 

▪ Uses data to train AI and build derivative tools for monetization. 

▪ Pitches it as an asset to secure millions in investor funding. 

▪ Misappropriates it—including to a Parallel Company under 

common control and to third parties. 

▪ Maintains a valuation of $80M despite a frustrated customer base and a 

sinking reputation due to poor equipment quality, lack of support and 

service. 

 

(b) The Right Hand: 

• Markets and sells products built on that misappropriated data. 

• Lures a separate class of investors into a second, coordinated venture  

built on the same stolen content. 
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This Complaint seeks damages for direct harm, protection of Plaintiff’s 

copyrighted work, and judicial recognition of systemic misconduct harming creators, 

investors, and platforms alike. 

 

Notably, Defendant’s board includes the former VP of Unity and the current Head 

of Roblox Studios—raising serious concerns about the downstream use of improperly 

acquired data. Defendant’s own materials confirm a pipeline between user-generated 

content and enterprise commercialization. Defendant has accepted and welcomed these 

members and other members of the board as being involved in this matter 

forthcoming.“You have involved our Board of Directors and they are now also briefed on 

the case and fully behind us, whichever route we choose to take. We are ready to go to 

trial, if needed.” 

 

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend this Complaint as discovery reveals 

additional facts, parties, and harms. 

 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

 

(1) Defendant is an international corporation which designs, manufactures and 

sells motion capture systems for (but not limited to) video game studio, animation 

studios, movie studios, etc.  
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(2) Plaintiff is a video game developer with title(s) under licensing by 

Nintendo® in about 42 different countries and pending deals with Sony® and Nintendo® 

and Valve®. Plaintiff’s video game is contractually bound with numerous celebrities: 

world famous musicians, world famous actors as well as a plethora of lesser-known 

actors who rely on this production for income and professional growth in the industry. 

 

(3) Plaintiff sued Defendant in this Court hoping for some attempts at 

settlement or resolution, however, Defendant ignored every attempt and as Plaintiff 

warned Defendant for months that a civil case for damages would follow if resolution 

was not reached, it has now been filed. 

 

(4) Due to Defendant’s illogical refusal to resolve the matter over nearly 8 

months, even with no cost to them, Plaintiff began researching into why they would 

spend money on a lawyer one month before Court instead of just replacing Defendant’s 

hardware they destroyed. 

 

(5) Plaintiff uncovered alleged systemic widespread legal violations including 

but not limited to fraud and deception of consumers and investors alike with readily-

available, public evidence that is textbook express admission against interest. 

 

(6) Plaintiff uncovered Defendants alleged fraudulent enterprise. Along with a 

high degree of attractive marketing, it produces and sells shoddy motion capture 

hardware to creators with nearly no support, fraudulent and unconscionable warranty 
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terms and no path to repair, then misappropriates and infringes upon that intellectual 

property without authorization; strips the metadata from the copyrighted works, and 

misappropriates it by selling it to third-parties, allegedly Fortune 500 companies and also 

one of which is a Parallel Company which is just Defendant’s company rebranded. 

 

(7)  Defendant’s seemingly true business model is misleading investors and 

consumers to make well beyond $100M, not producing any substantive product as a core 

business model. 

 

(8) To attract investors: Defendant openly admits to misappropriating and 

infringing upon intellectual property from creators, erasing their copyright metadata, and 

monetizing it for companies looking to train artificial intelligence without any knowledge 

or authorization or opt-out measures by consumers. 

 

(9) Defendant’s enterprise, including the Parallel Company seems to be a 

dual-book operation. Defendant receives massive VC investments (2025’s round is 

$25M) to both Defendant and their Parallel Company at the same time.  

 

(10) Consumers as well as investors of both investment vehicles are lured by 

materially false statements such as a “global-presence”, “100 employees”, “teams of 

employees in [various world cities]” and a market share that does not reflect reality. 

Defendant knew at all times those statements are provably and unequivocally false. 

Defendant admits to all of these actions in their own terms of service and investor decks, 
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while consumers are left hurting from spending high-dollar amounts on hardware that 

breaks with no path to repair, replace or refund; or hardware they simply never receive – 

because Defendant does not have hardware to sell. 

 

(11) When requested during ODR for Defendant to prove they have hardware 

inventory by video, they responded “I would be happy to show you our inventory and a 

product, but we use a third party logistics provider for warehousing and logistics 

services,  so we do not have finished goods at our offices.”, which is demonstrably false 

using UPS shipment labels back and forth between the Parties, all coming from that 

specific office location and all provided by Defendant. 

 

(12) Despite purchasing high-dollar amount equipment that Defendant claims 

“ships in a week”, consumers are left for months or years – without their equipment, their 

money returned or even communication by Defendant; all while Defendant makes 

$100M+ just in VC investment alone on top of non-performant sales. 

 

(13) Plaintiff is one of those consumers: lured by false advertising, a false 

brand image, a false market share and false statements, sold hardware that Defendant 

destroyed and refused to repair, replace or refund even during support windows. 

Unfortunately, Plaintiff trusted Defendant’s presence and claims and in the end, had his 

video game production materially halted and delayed due to Defendant’s failure to 

perform. Plaintiff is seeking damages for future losses. 
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(14) On or about May 6th, 2025, Plaintiff alleges Defendant spoliated key 

evidence from this case. Proof and evidence of the spoliation is present in the thirteenth 

cause of action “FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT”.  

 

(15) On or about May 7th, 2025, Plaintiff made a express admission against 

interest that they (a) know Plaintiff cannot work without their equipment and (b) are 

withholding Plaintiff’s right to replacement of that equipment under SONG-BEVERLY 

unless Plaintiff drop all causes of action against them (see: first cause of action) 

 

 

 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: 

TORTIOUS  INTERFERENCE WITH PROSPECTIVE ECONOMIC 

ADVANTAGE 

 

1. COMMERCIALIZATION IS IMMINENT, DEFENDANTS ACTIONS 

HALT COMMERCIAL MOMENTUM. 

The commercialization and monetization of Plaintiff’s video game is not 

circumstantial, it is factually imminent, as Plaintiff is a video game developer 

with title(s) already released on major video game platforms (Exhibit 139). 
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2. Nintendo has sent notices of the missed deadlines due to Defendant’s delays 

(Exhibit 28).  

 

3. Plaintiff’s video game is of high quality, a very large scale and ambitious 

production and is trademarked (Exhibit 140) and functionally complete aside 

from cinematic and gameplay animations and unfinished voice acting which 

first relies on animation to be completed for audio/movement synchronization. 

 

4. Video games require animations, Plaintiff cannot complete the animations 

without Defendant’s equipment being operational. They have refused to  

comply with Song-Beverly for about 14 months at the time of filing, leaving 

Plaintiff’s production halted and causing lost momentum, economic harm and 

loss of strategic positioning in terms of release dates to avoid competitors 

release date conflicts. 

 

5. DEFENDANT DEFINITIVELY KNOWN OF ECONOMIC HARM 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant knew at all times that Plaintiff was producing 

a video game and asserts Defendant even offered a discount on hardware in 

exchange for social media posts on various channels of Plaintiff’s. Plaintiff 

complied numerously (Exhibit 131) in a way that was unavoidable to 

Defendant’s knowledge. 
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6. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant was aware of Plaintiff’s video game, it’s 

professional productions (Exhibits 106 - 131), it’s economic prospects and 

that it has valid contracts between notable actors, notable musicians, and that 

the video game in question has been assigned SKU’s by Nintendo® (SKU: 

HAC-P-BCV4A) and by Sony® (SKU: CUSA34165_00) for licensing. 

 

7. WILLFULL CAUSATION OF DIRECT HARM  

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant defrauded him and countless other consumers 

out of parts, repair, replacement, support and in-warranty repairs. Purposely 

misdirecting Plaintiff away from a resolution using false diagnostics. Plaintiff 

asserts Defendant at all times secretly and instantly received exact causes of 

failures (Exhibit 57) and lied twice (Exhibit 175, 176) to avoid repairs. 

 

“successfully_initialized”:false 

“device_sensor_firmware”:”2.0.0.-r” 

“has_error”:true 

“error_type”:”sensors_in_mixed_boot_states” 
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8. DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY CONTINUED TO HARM PLAINTIFF 

POST-LITIGATION 

On or about May 5th, 2025, Plaintiff made about his 41st and final demand for 

replacement hardware with a time limit for remedy (Exhibit 167) as a 

response, Defendant made a express admission against interest in which he 

openly admits knowing Plaintiff cannot continue his economic pursuits, and is 

using that coercive lever as both a sword and a shield. 

 

9. On or about May 7th, 2025, Defendant responded (Exhibit 168) and stated : 

 

“However, sending you motion capture equipment without having closed the 

entire case is not an acceptable solution for us, if more claims and actions 

from your side will continue.”  

 

“We will therefore offer to send you what you have listed below on the 

condition that this closes the case immediately.”  

 

“we are willing to go further and help you get quickly back to your projects”  

 

“That will allow both you and us to go back to work, which ultimately should 

be the goal.” 
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Plaintiff responded appropriately (Exhibit 169, 170). 

 

10. UNRECOVERABLE DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY PLAINTIFF 

Plaintiff alleges that his video game production has experienced 

unrecoverable damages due to Defendant’s willful violations of the SONG-

BEVERLY Act and reckless indifference to foreseeable harm, and as such, 

Plaintiff’s video game production has materially stopped progressing towards 

release. “Even lawful conduct becomes unlawful if the motive is improper — 

i.e., reckless indifference to foreseeable harm.” (Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. 

Bear Stearns & Co. (50 Cal.3d 1118)) 

 

11. Plaintiff asserts that the video game production being unable to complete 

cascades into additionally linked economic potential such as: 

 

a) Plaintiff has been in early-stage discussions with a production partner 

regarding adaptation of his IP into a multi-episode streaming series 

(Exhibit 124) intended for platforms such as Amazon or Hulu. These 

deals are largely predicated on a coordinated dual-asset release, which 

has been delayed and materially disrupted due to the production halt 

caused by Defendant’s actions. 
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b) Plaintiff has merchandise deals (Exhibit 122, 125), in which customers 

have already provided payment or orders. 

 

c) Plaintiff scheduled the release of books (Exhibit 125), of which orders 

have already been received. 

 

12. Plaintiff asserts this game is a financial and professional provider to many 

people; of which some contracted specifically for the central goal of this 

production succeeding. Well known involvements include Ron Wasserman, 

Alexis Mincolla, Dino Cazares, Fear Factory, among many others.  

Participants, cast, crew, actors and artists alike have been dually harmed: 

 

 

13. MEASURABLE LOSS OF COMMERCIAL MOMENTUM AND 

HALTED PRODUCTION STATES 
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14. Similar game productions such as Plaintiff’s (Indie production, AA quality, 

game scope and size) can expect $9M  - $18M for moderate success, $30M+ 

for wide commercial success. 

 

15. Plaintiff’s economic prospects are not unfounded and are not unrealistic, 

especially given the scope, quality (Exhibits 119 – 121), size, story (Exhibit 

112), famous and well known cast and crew (Exhibit 115), licensing 

agreements with Nintendo® and Sony® and pending Microsoft® on multiple 

platforms. 

 

16. Plaintiff asserts that every day his production sits idle, with the story, 

graphics, characters, concepts, mechanics, gameplay foundation and other 

intellectual property visible for the world to see; is another day that Plaintiff 

may have competing products and competing studios vying to copy his 

creations and innovations. 

 

17. Plaintiff asserts that every day his production sits idle, after having had a live 

premiere event (Exhibit 105) and after having media coverage by IGN 

(Exhibit 106); that the public gains growing distrust over Plaintiff’s ability 

and capacity to release a title such as this. 

 

18. DEFENDANT HAD DOZENS OF CHANCES TO MITIGATE 

DAMAGES, PLAINTIFF HAD NONE 
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Plaintiff alleges that if Defendant had made parts available, repaired or 

replaced the hardware as the law requires, Defendant would have minimized 

the delays to Plaintiff’s production; as well as his own damages. At no time 

did Defendant attempt to mitigate in any way. 

 

19. Plaintiff could not at any one time simply just rent new equipment and 

continue with production, as if it was an automobile. The equipment 

Defendant provides is highly specialized, requires extraneous setup and 

requires a steep learning curve by multiple crew members post production, 

animators, game developers and more. Plaintiff would essentially be required 

to re-tool, re-educate and re-learn the core of his business and production 

functions; which no reasonable person would do especially given the 

reputation, capacity and quality that Defendant presents in their 

advertisements and purported operational standing. 

 

20. Plaintiff provided Defendant with around 41 chances to act properly under the 

law, the most recent of which was a deadline of May 12th, 2025 to replace all 

equipment. Instead, Defendant responded with coercion (Exhibit 169) 

 

21. Plaintiff asserts common causation between Defendant’s failures and 

Plaintiff’s losses is undeniably established given basic facts and logic. 

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 19 

 

 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION:  

VIOLATIONS OF SONG-BEVERLY ACT 

 

22. PLAINTIFF IS A PROTECTED CONSUMER UNDER SONG-

BEVERLY 

Plaintiff is a protected consumer under CIV § 1798.140(i) which states 

“”Consumer” means a natural person who is a California resident, as 

defined in Section 17014 of Title 18 of the California Code of Regulations, as 

that section read on September 1, 2017, however identified, including by any 

unique identifier.”. 

 

23. REFUSES PARTS AND REPAIR, REPLACE OR REFUND 

Plaintiff is a customer of Defendant. Having trusted the advertising, global 

presence and false advertising the experience has been less than savory and 

has caused material harm to Plaintiff while simultaneously violating the 

SONG-BEVERLY Act. 

 

a) On or about September 2020, Plaintiff was enticed by Defendant to 

move to their platform and offered a discount to do so in exchange for 

social media promotion and spent around $6,000 initially. 
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b) The first suit was faulty and needed replacement on arrival. 

 

c) Finally in January 2021 Defendant shipped the gloves making the 

unit(s) functional. 

 

d) The gloves began disintegrating after only a few uses (Exhibit 133) 

 

e) Less than 1 year after Plaintiff purchased his suit, Defendant began 

selling it’s successor unannounced and unbeknownst to Plaintiff who 

would have waited. 

 

f) Plaintiff experienced near constant problem(s) with the equipment and 

was contact with Defendant fairly often. 

 

g) Defendant released their new software “Rokoko Studio” plaintiff 

began using that platform. 

 

h) On or about March 2023, Defendant released a firmware update 

through the new software which was mandatory. That update 

destroyed Plaintiff’s suits by causing the sensors to be programmed 

with faulty code. Plaintiff would later come to learn it was likely 

intentional (Exhibit 47) as Defendant knowingly released a firmware 

update (version 7.2.3.0-94) which the developers specifically noted: 
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“This breaks compatibility with older hub + glove FWs” 

 

i) Technical logs showed clearly that the sensors were throwing 

individual error codes (Exhibit 94) and the logs showed the hub had 

been poisoned with firmware that caused communication failures: 

 

[27/3/2023 22:26:10.830095] INFO: Checking hub version... 

[27/3/2023 22:26:10.847530] INFO: HUB version 2.0.0 or higher!! 

[27/3/2023 22:26:15.546706] WARNING: 

rkk_usb_cdc_interface::read_port(): Warning! Length missmatch 784 

== 1250 

 

j) Plaintiff reached out to Defendant for assistance who after multiple 

delays, finally instructed Plaintiff to purchase “wires” from them to 

repair the suit. Plaintiff did so, the problem was not solved. Plaintiff 

would come to learn, Defendant at all times knew the sensors were the 

problem, as their software secretly transmitted that exact diagnosis to 

them without Plaintiff knowing (Exhibit 57). 

 

k) On or about September 27th, 2024, Plaintiff told Defendant they would 

not support his equipment even though the support period had 3 days 

left on it. (Exhibit 128, 129), a clear violation of SONG-BEVERLY 
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which requires repair, replace or refund. 

 

l) On or about November 21st, 2024, Plaintiff asked for parts since 

Defendant refused to repair. Defendant said they do not produce or 

stock parts (Exhibit 127) which is a clear violation of SONG-

BEVERLY which requires parts to be “made available” for 7 years 

from last manufacture date of a product or type.  

 

m) Defendant removed support for the Smartsuit 1 in the new software 

platform (“Rokoko Studio”). Now, Plaintiff’s suits are updated to a 

firmware incompatible with the legacy software, and will no longer 

work in the new software, rendering Plaintiff’s purchase entirely 

useless. 

 

n) Plaintiff attempted to purchase parts multiple times., Defendant 

refused every time, a statutory violation of SONG-BEVERLY (Exhibit 

127, 129) and instead multiple times simply offered a discount to 

purchase all new equipment so they could continue profiting off failed 

hardware they caused. 

 

o) Eventually Defendant, after facing potential legal consequences, 

attempted to offer used parts from a defunct suit, however, those parts 
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never materialized.  

 

p) Plaintiff attempted endless resolution with Defendant, even with their 

COO who also promised resolution but missed about 6 deadlines, each 

one with promised legal escalation. Defendant failed every possible 

attempt at resolution, each one a violation of the SONG-BEVERLY 

Act which requires parts to be made available, repair, replace or 

refund. Defendant denied all of those, even under notification of the 

law (Exhibit 135, 136).  

 

24. ILLEGAL WARRANTY AND REFUND TERMS 

Defendant sells hardware products to consumers with a 1 year warranty 

(Exhibit 61) and 30-days money back (Exhibit 63, 3), however, Defendant 

starts the 30-day warranty on the date of purchase NOT the date of receipt 

(Exhibit 13). (“Warranty start dates based on sale rather than delivery violate 

consumer protection statutes.” Murillo v. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc. (17 

Cal.4th 985)) 

 

25. UNCONSCIONABLE TERMS AGAINST SONG-BEVERLY 

Defendant goes so far in just one paragraph to vastly act against nearly every 

protection SONG-BEVERLY offers and immediately and specifically destroy 

the warranty, unbeknownst to the purchaser, via unconscionable contract 

terms: 
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26. Further, Defendant even attempts to shield themselves from liability in case 

their actions or equipment damages itself or other equipment buyers own: 

 

 

27. Defendant specifically and categorically denies any liability for 

unmerchantability or fitness of the products they sell which is an absolute 

violation of CA Civ. Code § 1792 which guarantees merchantability of 

consumer goods: 

 

 

 

 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: 

FALSE ADVERTISING 

CA BPC § 17500 
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28. Plaintiff reiterates and realleges the claims brought under the causes of action 

for “Fraudulent Misrepresentation to Investors” and “Violation of Song-

Beverly” as they directly contain evidentiary matter of intentional false 

advertising; and asserts that: 

“Businesses can be held liable for deceptive conduct even if the consumer did 

not rely on the misrepresentation — only that the misrepresentation was likely 

to deceive.” (People v. Dollar Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc. (211 Cal.App.3d 

119)) 

 

29. ADVERTISING WARRANTY, CONTRACTING IT IMMEDIATELY 

INVALID 

Plaintiff alleges Defendant sells high-dollar products with an express 

warranty, yet revokes it via unattached and unconscionable contract terms 

such as stating that consumers automatically disclaim all warranties, express 

or implied: 

 

 

30. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant further revokes all warranties,  yet advertises 

their existence and validity to consumers, and instead in unconscionable 

contract terms states the products are sold “as-is without warranty of any 

kind” 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 26 

 

 

31. CONTRACTING OUT OF LIABILITY FOR RELIANCE ON FALSE 

ADV. 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant knowingly engages in false advertising to the 

extreme point that Defendant admits the existence of it’s false advertising and 

even attempts to shield themselves from liability stating they are not 

responsible for “any loss or damage … incurred  ... as the result of (i) any 

reliance … on the completeness, accuracy or existence of any advertising”. 

 

 

 

 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION:  

DECEPTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES 
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32. Plaintiff reasserts and reiterates his arguments from the other causes of action 

in this Complaint which in themselves all constitute or have a causal link to 

deceptive business practices. 

 

33. MODIFYING TERMS ANYTIME WITHOUT MUTUAL ASSENT 

Plaintiff alleges Defendant offers a two-party contract to consumers who 

purchase or use their products and then changes the material terms of that 

contract, at will, at any time, with no mutual assent as required by Cal. Civ. 

Code § 1580. Consent is not mutual, unless the parties all agree upon the same 

thing in the same sense. 

 

34. Plaintiff alleges Defendant clearly and openly admits to violating Cal. Civ. 

Code § 1580

 

 

35. MODIFYING TERMS 67 TIMES WITH ONLY ONE NOTICE  

Plaintiff acknowledges Defendant has notified consumers of changes, 

however, only once since Plaintiff has been a customer (since 2019) and yet 

the terms and conditions have changed constantly (67 times) during that time 
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with no notice despite only one notification (Exhibit 169) ever being provided 

to consumers: 

Visualization of changes in the terms and conditions at 

www.rokoko.com/terms : 

 

 

 

“Parties to a contract have no obligation to check the terms on a periodic 

basis to learn whether they have changed. A party can't unilaterally change 

the terms of a contract; it must obtain the other party’s consent before doing 

so… [Posting changes on a website] in this case does not give rise to 

constructive notice.” - (Douglas v. Talk America, Inc., 495 F.3d 1062 (9th 

Cir. 2007)) 

 

“Notice—actual, inquiry, or constructive—is the touchstone for assent to a 

contract, and the resulting enforceability of changed terms in an agreement.” 

(Stover v. Experian Holdings, Inc.) (Stover v. Experian Holdings, Inc., 978 

F.3d 1082 (9th Cir. 2020). 

http://www.rokoko.com/terms
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“Safeway's unilateral modification of the Special Terms without notice to the 

customer was ineffective.” - Rodman v. Safeway Inc., No. 11-cv-03003-JST 

(N.D. Cal. 2015) 

 

36. INTENTIONAL OBFUSCATION OF UNCONSCIONABLE TERMS 

Defendant purposely attempted to comply with noticing requirements while 

simultaneously obfuscating or hiding the nature of the changes by 

summarizing the changes in very small, almost cursive font (a clear violation 

of DMCA §1202(a)) violating CA Code Regs. Tit 10 Sec 6452 and meeting 

the criteria of fraud by concealment.
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37. Plaintiff alleges Defendant purposely constructed this notification e-mail 

unreadable due to it’s contents as this is the only time – ever – that Defendant 

has used this font in any e-mail message. This is clear deceptive marketing 

and is in strict violation of Cal. Code Regs. Tit. 10, § 6452 – (“Accessibility 

and Readability”) 

 

38. Plaintiff asserts, this e-mail (Exhibit 169) contains an express admission 

against interest which openly states and proves beyond a reasonable doubt (a) 
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Plaintiff’s claims against Defendant in regards to the intellectual property, 

contract and warranty claims are accurate and (b) That Defendant willfully 

performed these actions and that (c) Defendant intended to deprive Plaintiff 

and consumers of their rights under the threat of economic coercion or  

economic distress. 

 

“Duress by economic pressure may be wrongful, and thus actionable, even if 

the party exerting the pressure is pursuing a legal right.” – (Rich & Whillock, 

Inc. v. Ashton Development, Inc. (1984) 157 Cal.App.3d 1154, 1159:) 

 

“If a party uses its superior bargaining power to impose oppressive terms, 

courts may find unconscionability or coercion.” – (Tarquin v. MyUncleTV, 

Inc.  (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 209:) 

 

39. SECRETLY RECORDING AND TRANSMITTING IP & TELEMETRY 

Plaintiff alleges, that the notification to the terms of service, was 2/20/2025, 

however, Defendant had been secretly receiving user data, telemetry and 

intellectual property without any notification or authorization since 2019 even 

through their “Rokoko Legacy” application (Exhibits 29 – 60). 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION:  

UNFAIR COMPETITION 

 

40. Violating any law (Right to Repair Law (CA BPC 1793.03), CLRA) 

automatically triggers CA BPC 17200, which prohibits any unlawful or 

fraudulent business act or practice. 

 

41. As required for CLRA, a 30-day notice was sent in or about May 15th, 2025 

by certified mail (Exhibit 37). 

 

 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION:  

VIOLATION OF CLRA 

 

42. CLRA requires clear, advance disclosure of material terms that affect a 

purchase—especially warranties, repair rights, and data use. Burying it in an 

unacknowledged web page is strict noncompliance. 

 

43. All foregoing acts constitute unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business 

practices under Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200, including but not limited to 

false advertising, breach of warranty, and deceptive contractual inducement. 
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:  

MISAPPROPRIATION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 

44. ADMISSION AGAINST INTEREST FOR LONG PLANNED IP THEFT 

Plaintiff alleges Defendant manufactured, marketed and sold a product under 

entirely ulterior motives to consumers, but always made investors aware 

(Exhibits 79, 82, 82, 83): 

 

a) Defendant has used the name “Rokoko Care” since at least 2016 in 

conjunction with motion capture. (Exhibit 79) 

 

b) In or about 2015, Defendant used Kickstarter to fund a project called 

“Salto”, a motion capture system. 

 

c) In or about 2022, Defendant raised $3M of capital (Exhibit 86, 87) on 

an investor pitch deck which specifically admits to taking intellectual 

property and misappropriating it to other sources such as Robotics and 

Automotive (Tesla, Volkswagen, Mercedes-Benz, BMW, Ford), their 

Parallel Company, Facebook/Meta and more. (Exhibits 83, 81) 

 

d) With the facts set forth in the cause of action “fraudulent 

misrepresentation to investors”, it is clear that dual-use intent with 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 34 

premeditated parallel plans have occurred as one enterprise. 

 

45. NO MUTUAL ASSENT, EXPLICIT ADMISSION AGAINST 

INTEREST OF IP THEFT 

On or about February, 20th 2025; as detailed in paragraph 34: Defendant 

notified consumers of changes to the public terms of service page. Those 

changes, specifically outline that Plaintiff and other consumers protected, 

copyrighted, intellectual property are no longer their own. This is a clear 

violation of 17 U.S.C. Section 107 and the modification of that data to obscure 

the copyright is a violation of DMCA §1202(b)(1), DMCA §1202(b)(3) 

 

 

46. Defendant created a collaborative add-on to their software, called ‘Teams’, 

where animation data can be shared between various collaborators. This is a 

paid subscription service. However, even without ‘Teams’ enabled and 

without a valid subscription, Defendant still transmits the intellectual property 

to their servers (Video exhibit 173 at 12:13) without opt-in, terms and 

conditions (Exhibits 159-164, (Video exhibit 173 at 16:03)) or notification or 

consent of any kind. 
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47. Defendant admits in their terms and in their investor deck (2022) that they 

collect and misappropriate users intellectual property (Exhibits 78 - 87) – 

property Plaintiff has created with extreme costs of time and money – without 

any consent and sells it to a third party (aka their Parallel Company and 

others) violating DMCA §1202(b)(3). The data is sent to Defendant’s systems 

secretly, without user knowledge or opt-out (Exhibits 161-166, (Video exhibit 

173 at 12:13), (Video exhibit 171)), as shown below: 

 

 

 

48. DISREGARD FOR REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY 

Defendant ignores the reasonable expectation of privacy that Plaintiff and 
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other consumers expect when recording themselves, actors or others – 

especially for projects or products which may be of a confidential, commercial 

nature, or work-for-hire in which the consumer never had rights to reassign. 

 

a) Defendant claims their products are used by massive productions and 

companies (Netflix, Call of Duty, The Last of Us, Lil Nas X, etc.); 

companies which often have strict NDA agreements to prevent their IP 

from being leaked, used, or resold under any circumstances. 

Companies which have strict guidelines and NDA’s in place for their 

productions. Defendant admits that they take IP and use it for their 

own ends, including resale.  

 

49. DEFENDANT HAS OPT-OUT ABILITIES BUT REMOVED IT FOR 

USERS 

Defendant at all times knew that an opt-out was a requirement, and even went 

so far as to build it in their software, but never allow users to actually disable 

reporting: 
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“PLAYER_OPTED_OUT” = FALSE 

“LIMIT_USER_TRACKING” = FALSE 

“SHOULDCOLLECTAUTOMATION” = TRUE 

 

50. DEFENDANT STRIPS METADATA 

Defendant openly admits to “anonymizing the data” which means stripping 

identifying metadata from the IP, making a clear example of liability. Proof 

that metadata existed, then was stripped and then uploaded to Defendant’s 

servers is documented in: (Video exhibit 173 at 11:59) 

 

“DMCA liability attaches if metadata was removed with the knowledge that it 

would conceal infringement.” – (Stevens v. CoreLogic, Inc. (899 F.3d 666)) 

 

51. DEFENDANTS CONTRACT RENDERS ITSELF VOID AB INITIO 

Further, even if the Court did find that Defendant’s right to change the 

material terms of the agreement were valid and just; Defendant’s authored 

words render the changed terms of the agreement now and forever in the 

future void ab initio: 
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a) In Defendant’s own contractual agreement, in which Defendant named 

“Terms”, on a website page Defendant named “terms”; Defendant 

specifically states: 

 

“you further disclaim all warranties, terms and conditions of any 

kind” 

 

and even continues 

 

“including, but not limited to any implied warranties, terms, and 

conditions of merchantability…” 

 

i. Whether the wording was intentional or not, the meaning 

is clear and the ambiguity can only be interpreted in the 

way it is written, in favor of the reader, not the drafter per 

the contract interpretation doctrine, aka, California Civil 

Code § 1654 which states “Any uncertainty in a contract 

is interpreted against the drafter.” 
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ii. In Defendant’s own words, all consumers, including 

Plaintiff, agreed upon purchase and use of the services of 

Defendant that they disclaim all terms and conditions. 

Plaintiff agrees and accepts not being bound by their 

terms and conditions in perpetuity. 

 

 

52. PLAINTIFFS IP WAS MISAPPROPRIATED WITHOUT PRIOR 

AUTHORIZATION 

Plaintiff used Defendant’s products from 2019 – 2025, arguably only a 

handful of times as the product failed repeatedly, however, Plaintiff produced 

during those handful of times around 450 separate animations.  

 

53. Plaintiff never agreed to the changes in the terms and conditions. In fact, there 

are none visible to the user at any time (Video exhibit 173 at 15:26) – only for 

the IP theft to be secretly happening (Video exhibit 173 at 11:37)  by the very 

tools he relies on and paid a flat price to purchase with no conditions of use 

pertaining to sharing of any information violating DMCA §1202(b)(3).  

 

54. As the binding terms of the agreement are void ab initio by Defendant’s own 

words, actions, inactions and specific directives; that logically means that 

Defendant has received no consent to use any intellectual property collected 

from any consumer including Plaintiff. Yet, they continue to do so: 
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This dialog, post-litigation was changed to “updating selected team” to 

obscure the true activity of IP misappropriation: 

 

 

55. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant is using his intellectual property, without 

permission, to train intelligence models under their mutual enterprise (branded 

as their Parallel Company). In fact, Defendant defined this specific plan in 

2022 to investors and raised over $3M from it (Exhibit 86). Further, 

Defendant includes in their terms peculiar wording to dissuade consumers 

from using their own IP for a competing task against Defendant:
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56. IN FACT, their Parallel Company’s website admits they use the stolen IP to 

train artificial intelligence multiple times: 

 

a) “Using AI-based computer vision technology, we can live-track users' 

exercises as they stand in front of their phone” 

 

b) “Coco Care stems from Rokoko and a long technology journey” 

 

57. The Parallel Company even states their 3-step path to get to where they are 

today, which involves a middle step – Defendant Rokoko as the source for 

Plaintiff’s misappropriated intellectual property. 

 

“On that journey, we’ve gone from using large motion capture studios – like 

those you see in Hollywood movies – to sensor-based suits and today to 

motion capture that works solely with a smartphone. The result is that it’s 

never been easier to track users’ movements and give them live feedback. “ 

 

58. SELF-GRANTING RIGHTS WITHOUT ANY LEGAL 

ENTITLEMENT 

Defendant further granted themselves retroactive and perpetual royalty-free, 

sublicensable, worldwide, non-exclusive rights to Plaintiff’s intellectual 

property in their invalid contract: 
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59. Plaintiff alleges, Defendant at all times knew they were violating intellectual 

property laws, insofar that they: 

 

a) Attempted to shield themselves from proxy liability in the event the 

true owner of a work for hire or IP production brings legal action 

against the creator of the works: 

 

 

b) Were aware at all times that organizations would employ animators 

who would not hold personal ownership over the intellectual property 

 

 

60. SUPPORTING CASE LAW 

“Indirect or contributory infringement still counts if a party facilitates or 

turns a blind eye.” (A&M Records, Inc. v. Napster, Inc. (239 F.3d 1004)) 
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61. “Even linking to infringing content or enabling it creates exposure.” (Perfect 

10, Inc. v. Amazon.com, Inc. (508 F.3d 1146)) 

 

 

 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY INFRINGEMENT 

 

62. Plaintiff reiterates and realleges the facts and allegations set forth in the 

seventh cause of action. 

 

63. FRAUDULENT INTENT INVALIDATES CONTRACTS 

The fraudulent intent behind Defendant’s terms and conditions shall not shield 

Defendant from liability in this cause of action: “Fraudulent inducement 

invalidates entire contracts” (Engalla v. Permanente Medical Group (15 

Cal.4th 951)) and “Contracts that are procedurally and substantively 

unconscionable are unenforceable in part or whole.” (Armendariz v. 

Foundation Health Psychcare (24 Cal.4th 83)) 

 

64. ADMISSION AGAINST INTEREST FOR IP INFRINGEMENT 

Defendant plainly and clearly admitted to using stolen intellectual property 

and even have attempted to shield themselves from liability in case anyone 

discovers it: 
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yet within the same terms they admit they do just that: 

 

and attempts to shield themselves from 3rd party claims: 

 

or lawsuits involving any party over intellectual property claims using their 

products: 

 

 

65. ACTUAL INFRINGEMENT OCCURRED 

Plaintiff alleges Defendant offers no way to opt out of the use of their 

copyrighted intellectual property, even though they built opt-out modes into 

the software, without allowing users to disable data sharing. Defendant’s 

software then secretly transfers all data and information to them without any 

knowledge of the user: 
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proof of Plaintiff’s intellectual property on Defendant’s servers. 

 

66. Further, Defendant Plaintiff’s personal information (name, e-mail, etc.) to a 

third party (ui-avatars.com) without authorization: 

 

if Plaintiff would have provided an image of his face, this third party would 

receive that information and host it in an insecure manner, allowing anyone 

access to biometric data. The Supreme Court found this is a punishable BIPA 

offense of $1,000 for each negligent; and $5,000 per intentional or reckless 

violation: "A separate claim accrues under the Act each time a private entity 

scans or transmits an individual’s biometric identifier or information in 

violation of section 15(b) or 15(d)." (Cothron v. White Castle System, Inc.) 

 

67. SATISFACTION OF IP INFRINGEMENT REQUIREMENTS 

Plaintiff has already shown causal logical links between: 
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a)  Defendant and their Parallel Company being one enterprise, 

b) AND consumer’s (“Plaintiff’s”) intellectual property being harvested 

by Defendant, 

c) AND Defendant’s own claims that they sell the intellectual property to 

a third party, 

d) AND that third party being Defendant’s own Parallel Company 

e) AND that Parallel Company admitting they used that data for 

production 

f) AND that Parallel Company sells a product, for a profit, based on 

Plaintiff’s data. 

g) AND that no valid agreement exists between the Parties for sharing IP 

data. 

 

68. To satisfy a claim for IP infringement, two sets of criteria must evaluate true: 

a) Registration: 

i. Ownership: Plaintiff has proof of the source of the 

material he owns. (Exhibit 137) 

ii. Validity: Plaintiff’s work is novel and non-obvious. 

iii. Claim Construction: Used without permission, 

Defendant made express admission. 

b) Proving Infringement: 

i. Direct Infringement: Defendant used it without 

authorization. 
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ii. Indemnity: Defendant admits the source (Plaintiff) and 

the destination (their Parallel Company) multiple times. 

iii. Evidence: Well prepared 

 

69. Plaintiff argues that Defendant’s own statements acknowledging their intent to 

collecting, using, relicensing and/or selling the intellectual property of 

consumers (namely Plaintiff); and their Parallel Company’s own statements 

acknowledging receipt of that intellectual property and the use of it, 

constitutes an admission against interest and therefore Plaintiff requires no 

extraneous burden of proof as Defendant has proven it prima facie and 

therefore Defendant cannot simply take while unscrupulously contracting their 

way out of copyright law. (Specht v. Netscape, 306 F.3d 17 (2d Cir. 2002), 

Balsam v. Trancos, Inc., 203 Cal.App.4th 1083 (2012), ProCD v. Zeidenberg, 

86 F.3d 1447 (7th Cir. 1996)) 

 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

VIOLATION OF DMCA § 1202 

 

70. VIOLATION OF DMCA DUE TO STRIPPING OWNERS 

METADATA 

Plaintiff asserts that each and every individual animation (his intellectual 

property) contains metadata information which clearly identifies the author by 

name (“Matt”) the version of software that was used to create it, a globally 
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unique identifier, serial number(s) specific to this hardware: 

 

(Exhibit 141) 

 

Additional metadata located at the end of the file (Exhibit 142) indicating 

other people who are in the scene performing as well. 
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71. Plaintiff asserts that Defendant secretly transmits users telemetry and 

metadata even outside of the intellectual property container so that they at all 

times know the author and owner of said intellectual property:

 

 

72. Defendant admits within their own terms and conditions that they modify 

and/or remove this metadata to make it “fully anonymized”, a direct and 

punishable violation of U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B) 

 

 

 

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

UNCONSCIONABLE CONTRACT TERMS  

Cal. Civ. Code § 1670.5 
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73. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant modified material terms of a mutual 

agreement and inserted terms which are unconscionable such as: 

 

74. RESERVATION THEREOF; AND IMMEDIATE REVOCATION OF 

CONSUMER RIGHTS 

Defendant’s terms state they may modify “any intellectual property rights that 

arise [to your intellectual property]” which is unconscionable as the begins 

with “your retain all your rights to [intellectual property] <period>”; the 

clause then becomes contradictory, enabling Defendant to revoke or change 

those rights. Both statements written in a specific order with an intentional 

buffer to distract the consumer from the real intent. 

 

 

"If a man is induced to enter into a contract by a false representation it is not 

a sufficient answer to him to say, 'If you had used due diligence you would 

have found out that the statement was untrue.'" (Redgrave v Hurd (1881) 20 

Ch D 1) 

 

75. Defendant specifically declares in which ways they can use Plaintiff’s 

intellectual property creations while simultaneously denying Plaintiff the 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 51 

ability to use his own IP in the exact same way that Defendant does; 

constituting substantiative unconscionability (CA Civ Code § 1670.5). 

 

 

a) Plaintiff purchased the equipment, paid in-full, outright from 

Defendant entirely without restrictions as is the case with likely the 

vast majority of consumers buying Defendant’s equipment (they don’t 

offer lease options or rentals) which therefore constitutes procedural 

unconscionability under CA Civ Code § 1670.5 

 

76. It is unconscionable that Defendant redefined “Intellectual Property” as “User 

Content”, a negligent misstatement made with intentful purpose; considering 

both phrases are both comprised of two words, almost equal length, and yet 

the former is definitive and the latter is functionally ambiguous. 

 

 

“A negligent misstatement made by a party with special knowledge or 

expertise can lead to liability if the other party relies on it.” (Esso Petroleum 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 52 

Co Ltd v Mardon [1976] QB 801) 

 

a) It is further unconscionable that Defendant knowingly sells a product 

which: 

 

i. Record a consumers movements 

 

ii. AND is sold to video game producers, film makers, 

animators; all knowledgeably skilled people  

 

iii. AND are likely in a professional setting or capacity in 

which the product is often confidential, work for hire or 

not definitive under fair use under 17 U.S.C. Section 107. 

 

b) A high-level understanding of the technology is that it performs the 

same overarching function that the video camera in your cell phone 

does. In fact, your cell phone can perform the same functions and 

generational output of usable motion capture data that Defendant’s 

product can. Yet – the maker of your phone camera does not own your 

images, videos, recordings; you do (17 U.S.C. Section 107). Yet, 

unconscionably, Defendant takes it one step farther and asserts 

unconscionable worldwide, non-exclusive, royalty-free, sublicensable 

rights to your intellectual property – in perpetuity: 
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77. ADVERTISE A WARRANTY,  SECRETLY CONTRACT ITS 

IMMEDIATE DEMISE  

It is unconscionable to sell a product with a 1 year warranty (Exhibit 61), only 

offer 30-days money back (Exhibit 63), begin that money-back guarantee the 

minute you pay not when you receive the item (Exhibit 23), ship the item 

weeks, months, or years (Exhibit 4) later, leaving the consumer unable to 

return the item under any circumstances. 

 

“Warranty start dates based on sale rather than delivery violate consumer 

protection statutes.” (Murillo v. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc. (17 Cal.4th 985)) 

 

78. It’s unconscionable to sell a product with a 1 year warranty (Exhibit 61)   

and then immediately enact contractual terms upon purchase that retract that 

very same warranty unilaterally: 
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79. CONTRACTING YOUR WAY OUT OF FALSE ADVERTISING 

LAWS 

It’s unconscionable to advertise a product falsely, then insert terms into a 

mutual contract which state that if a consumer believed those advertisements 

and experienced any losses or damages, Defendant is not liable: 

 

This is prima facie unconscionability in direct violation of CA Civ. § 3513 

which states “a law established for a public reason cannot be contravened by 

a private agreement.” 

 

"A provision in any contract...that purports to waive, in all fora, the statutory 
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right to seek public injunctive relief under the UCL, the CLRA, or the false 

advertising law is invalid and unenforceable under California law." (McGill 

v. Citibank, N.A., 2 Cal. 5th 945 (2017)) 

 

"Plaintiffs who can truthfully allege they were deceived by a product's label 

into spending money to purchase the product, and would not have purchased 

it otherwise, have 'lost money or property' within the meaning of the UCL and 

have standing to sue." (Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court, 51 Cal. 4th 310 

(2011)) 

 

 

80. DEMANDING ARBITRATION WITH CONTRACT THAT CHANGES 

AT WILL 

It is unconscionable to reserve the right to change a contract at any time, while 

simultaneously demanding arbitration. Defendant cannot wield the omni 

potential for contractual change while also chilling access to the courts and 

controlling dispute resolution creating a king vs commoner imbalance of 

power. 

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 56 

“Because Blockbuster reserves the right to change the contract at any time 

without notice, the contract is illusory and the arbitration provision 

unenforceable.” (Harris v. Blockbuster Inc., 622 F. Supp. 2d 396 (N.D. Tex. 

2009)) 

 

 

 

CAUSE  OF ACTION: 

ILLEGAL DEPLOYMENT OF CODE & PRIVACY VIOLATIONS 

CFAA§ 1030, Cal. Penal § 502, 

 

 

81. Plaintiff created, enabled and actively uses a secret backdoor within Plaintiff’s 

software which allows them to send remote client-side JavaScript code of any 

purpose, directed not only at Plaintiff but at any specific user, and execute it at 

will on that users machine without authorization or their knowledge. This 

code can be of malicious intent if so deemed. Defendant’s software is 

PC/Desktop based, not web-based, yet JavaScript code was found being sent 

to Plaintiff’s machine. (Exhibit 49) 

 

This violates constitutes clear violations of: 

a) The Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (18 U.S. Code § 1030) 

b) Electronic Communications Privacy Act (18 U.S. Code § 2510 et seq.) 
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c) California Penal Code § 502 

d) California Invasion of Privacy Act – (Penal Code § 631 et seq.) 

e) California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) 

 

82. TRANSMISSING IP & TELEMETRY DATA WITHOUT 

AUTHORIZATION  

It is unconscionable for Defendant to force users intellectual property 

(Exhibits 56, 35, 36, 38, 53) and telemetry usage (Exhibits 30, 31, 32, 33) to 

their cloud services, without any opt-in or out-out or user notification 

whatsoever, in fact, it’s illegal under Civil Code § 1798.120 which states “(a) 

A consumer shall have the right, at any time, to direct a business that sells or 

shares personal information about the consumer to third parties not to sell or 

share the consumer’s personal information. This right may be referred to as 

the right to opt-out of sale or sharing.  (b) A business that sells consumers’ 

personal information to, or shares it with, third parties shall provide notice to 

consumers... that this information may be sold or shared and that consumers 

have the “right to opt-out” of the sale or sharing of their personal 

information.”  

 

 

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

FRAUD IN INDUCEMENT TO CONTRACT AND PURCHASE 
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83. Plaintiff reiterates and realleges through the causes of action herein, that 

consumers were provided an alternate reality from actuality and; at all times 

Defendant knew it would be relied on so that they could defraud those 

individuals of intellectual property and monetary resources alike while 

simultaneously forcing them to agree to unconscionable terms and conditions 

without any knowledge of those conditions whatsoever. 

 

“A defendant's intent to defraud is inferred if the misrepresentation was made 

with reckless disregard for its truth.” Lazar v. Superior Court (12 Cal.4th 

631) 

 

 

TWELTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

 FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION TO INVESTORS 

 

84. ALTER EGOS: TWO INVESTMENT VEHICLES, ONE ENTERPRISE 

Plaintiff alleges, the Parallel Company shared a common name with 

Defendant (Rokoko Care vs. Rokoko), however, likely to shield liability, it 

was renamed to Coco Care and then Coco. The website address 

www.rokokocare.com simply forwards to the new website for the rebranded 

Parallel Company www.cococare.io proving a literal technological link 

between the companies (Exhibit 134). 

 

http://www.rokokocare.com/
http://www.cococare.io/


1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 59 

85. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant operates two distinct investment vehicles 

(Exhibit 95, 96) which utilize the same office space (Exhibit 95, 96, 65), the 

same staff (Exhibit 80,144-157), the same ownership (Exhibit 80,144-157), 

shared intellectual property (Exhibit 75-87). In fact, Defendant references this 

in their investor pitch deck (Exhibit 75-87) and for these reasons and others in 

this cause of action, they are one in the same: a singular enterprise. 

 

"Among the many factors to be considered in applying the doctrine are the 

commingling of funds and other assets of the two entities, the holding out by 

one entity that it is liable for the debts of the other, the identical equitable 

ownership in the two entities, the use of the same offices and employees, the 

use of one as a mere shell or conduit for the affairs of the other, inadequate 

capitalization, disregard of corporate formalities, lack of segregation of 

corporate records, and identical directors and officers." (210 Cal.App.2d 825 

(1962)) 

 

86. Plaintiff alleges Defendant’s separate vehicles each receive separate venture 

capital investments simultaneously yet that money yields different returns 

and different risks for investors, all while vast sums of money go to the same 

endpoints: almost entirely in the pockets of the company officers and board 

(Exhibit 99). 
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87. On or about May 5th, 2025 Defendant made direct express admissions against 

interest  (Exhibit 143) in stating: 

 

a)  ““Care” evolved as a research project in Rokoko. “ 

Defendant admits the so-called ‘separate’ entity originated directly 

within Rokoko, sharing research, staff, IP, and infrastructure—making 

it a continuation, not a break. 

 

b) “When the project matured, it was spun off as a separate legal entity 

along with the tech that the Care team had developed.”  

Defendant confirms the core intellectual property used in the ‘Parallel 

Company’ was developed within Rokoko, before any formal corporate 

separation—satisfying multiple elements of corporate veil piercing, 

including shared assets and non-arm’s-length transfers. 

 

c) “Today, it has no affiliation with Rokoko”  

Defendant concedes there was affiliation prior to VC funding. 

 

d) “”we” therefore also required that “they” changed the company 

name to avoid confusion” 

Defendant (Mikkel Overby), who is staffed also by Defendant and it’s 

Parallel-Company in his same capacitive role, openly admits to 

deliberately rebranding the same tech, developed under the same roof, 
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by the same team, using the same IP—confirming an effort to obscure 

continuity and mislead public perception of separation. The alleged 

separation occurred only 7 months ago from the date of filing (Exhibit 

157) 

 

e) “All parties involved from including the team, legal counsel and 

accountants will confirm this.”  

Defendant admits all involved parties, across both entities, are the 

same—lawyers, accountants, the “board” and operational staff—

satisfying legal tests for common control, commingling, and unity of 

interest under the Alter Ego doctrine. 

 

88. DEFENDANT MADE FALSE STATEMENTS AGAINST 

INVOLVEMENT, EVIDENCE PROVES OTHERWISE 

Defendant’s COO Mikkel Overby, after being provided the civil complaint, 

stated: “”we” therefore also required that “they” changed the company name 

to avoid confusion. He attempted to paint the entity as separate and unique, 

however, his name is continuously mentioned in the same role (Exhibits 144 -  

156), and alongside the same owners and board mentioned in the investor 

pitch deck; and even posts about the Parallel-Company himself on LinkedIn 

(Exhibit 148). 
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89. In addition to numerous pieces of evidence that tie Rokoko to Rokoko Care 

(aka Coco), Trifork Investments, a new ~22% shareholder of Defendant’s 

specifically named the owners and the COO Mikkel in a press release (Exhibit 

154) and admits that they “bring deep insights into physiotherapy, along with 

advanced motion capture technologies”, such as the kind Defendant 

developed using misappropriated intellectual property before creating a 

separate investment vehicle for new venture capital money. 

 

90. Additionally, Trifork (~22% shareholder) also stated “Rokoko Care evolved 

from Rokoko, a tech company with a decade of experience in motion capture 

and customers in over 100 countries” (Exhibit 155). This statement from a 

quarter shareholder is a bona fide express admission against interest. 

 

91. Plaintiff alleges a coordinated scheme between multiple entities to solicit 

funds through misrepresentation, all while operating as a singular enterprise 

under different names, satisfying the Alter Ego Doctrine. 

 

"The purpose of the alter ego doctrine is not to protect every unsatisfied 

creditor, but rather to prevent misuse of the corporate form in circumstances 

where adherence to the fiction of separate corporate existence would sanction 

a fraud or promote injustice." (39 Cal.3d 290 (1985)) 
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92. MISREPRESENTATION AFFECTS INVESTORS AND CONSUMERS 

THROUGH CAUSATION 

Plaintiff alleges that by misrepresenting to investors to gain over $100M in 

VC funding (Exhibit 97, 98), using that funding for vast marketing campaigns 

and these findings being omnipresent in public while consumers research and 

shop for high-dollar equipment like that of the Defendant’s, consumers, like 

Plaintiff are equally as harmed due to the causal misrepresentation that would 

never be possible if not for the ill-gotten gains.  

 

"A misrepresentation made in a business context, even if not directly part of 

the product transaction, is actionable if it induced the plaintiff’s reliance and 

caused injury." (Lazar v. Superior Court, 12 Cal.4th 631 (1996)) 

 

“Economic injury from relying on a false representation, even indirectly, 

satisfies standing under UCL.” (Unfair Competition Law (UCL, CA BPC 

§17200)) 

 

93. FRAUDULENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Defendant’s own financial statements show they paid their staff $8M dollars 

more than their revenue in 2023 (Exhibit 99). In 2022, their revenue was 32M 

DKK (and staff was paid $4.8M).  
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94. Defendant’s financial statements (Exhibit 100) shows falsities claiming 

property, manufacturing plant(s) and equipment despite no physical locations 

of any kind, equity investments in other group entities, inventories of 37M 

DKK ($5.6M) and 30 DKK  ($4.5M) (respectively despite having no 

warehouse or inventory of any kind and only 1.3M DKK ($197k) banked cash 

(2023), claiming a total in assets of 106M DKK ($16M) 

 

95. Defendant’s financial statements (Exhibit 99) claim 4M DKK ($606k) (2023) 

and 3M DKK ($455k)  (2022) respectively for depreciation on property (they 

have none), a plant (they do not possess one) and equipment (they have no 

physical locations with any equipment). 

 

96. PREDICATE ACTS SATISFY RICO 

Plaintiff alleges Defendant committed predicate acts described elsewhere in 

this complaint and additionally under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1) as the acts 

described herein were committed through electronic means, emails, pitch 

decks, website and interstate communications. 

 

97. Further, Plaintiff alleges Defendant engages in money laundering (18 U.S. 

Code § 1956)  by selling stolen intellectual property from their company to 

their Parallel Company, despite being a unified enterprise under the guise of a 

fake sale  (prohibited under 18 U.S. Code § 1956(a)(1)(B)). Defendant admits 
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this openly in their terms of service.  

 

98. Plaintiff reserves the right to assert a claim for civil RICO under 18 USC 1962 

upon the discovery of additional evidence supporting such a claim of 

racketeering activity. 

 

99. FALSE FRONTS AND STATEMENTS MISLEAD INVESTORS INTO 

GLOBAL PRESENCE WITH INFLATED WORKFORCE 

Plaintiff alleges Defendant operates false-fronts to confuse and deceive 

investors and consumers alike. Defendant as early as 2016 has claimed they 

are foremost based in San Franscisco and still claim to this day to have offices 

in Copenhagen (Exhibits 65, 66, 67, 68), Athens (Exhibits 71, 72, 73), Los 

Angeles (Exhibit 73) as well as San Francisco (Exhibits 69, 70). Defendant, to 

this day, further claims they have “teams” at these major-city worldwide 

locations (Exhibit 74). Defendant claims to have 80 employees yet their 

financial reports state only 45 as of 2023 (Exhibit 101). Statements that were 

made to investors in a pitch deck that raised $3M in 2021 and cites raising 

$7M in 2019, $3M in 2022, $25M in 2023: 
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100. Defendant’s Copenhagen office is a 900 sq. ft. basement with no visible 

loading access, no apparent infrastructure for servers or production 

equipment, and is located behind a locked gate. As shown in (Exhibits 65–68), 

the exterior has remained closed and inaccessible since at least 2016 — 

directly contradicting Defendant’s repeated claims to investors and consumers 

of a staffed, operational headquarters at that location.
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101. NO OFFICES, NO EQUIPMENT, NO INVENTORY, NO 

PRODUCT TO SELL 

Plaintiff, in arbitration for case number “25CHSC00490” made a pre-

settlement request, for video proof of inventory. Defendant stated it is not 

possible to show proof of inventory because they do not keep finished goods 

at their offices; despite their website (Exhibit 64) and shipping labels 

(Exhibits 90-93) stating the contrary. 

 

 

f) On or about May 1st, Plaintiff demanded a 48-hour window to prove 

operational infrastructure and inventory exists, Defendant did not 

comply and ceased communications until May 5th, where he stated that 

he did not show the office because Plaintiff’s timeline fell into the 

weekend. 

 

102. Based on the evidence collected, it seems Plaintiff sells their products on 

false pretenses to consumers who believe the company has equipment readily 

for sale (Exhibits 2, 4,  5, 6, 22, 23, 24) yet Defendant simply collects funds, 

misleads consumers about shipping dates, refuses refunds (Exhibits 2, 4, 13, 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 69 

15, 22) and waits until financially viable to execute production runs of non-

existent products.  

 

103. SATISFACTION OF FRAUD 

To prove fraud in California, there is a need to satisfy all 4 prongs of 

qualification: 

g) A single false statement of material fact: 

i. “We have 100 employees” – False (Exhibit 101) 

ii. “We have offices in Los Angeles” – False (Exhibit 73) 

iii. “We have offices in Athens” – False (Exhibit 71) 

iv. “We have offices in San Francisco” – False (Exhibit 70) 

v. “We have teams of employees at offices in Los Angeles” 

– False (Exhibit 73) 

vi. “We have teams of employees at offices in Athens” – 

False (Exhibit 71) 

vii. “We have teams of employees at offices in San 

Francisco” – False (Exhibit 70) 

 

h) Made with knowledge of it’s falsity: 

i. Defendant knows their staff size is less far than 100. 

(Exhibit 101) 

ii. Their Parallel Company knows their staff size is far less 

than 100 (Exhibit 95). 
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iii. Defendant stated their staff size was 80 while pitching 

investments (Exhibit 85) but that year reported as fourty-

six (46) (Exhibit 101) 

iv. They knowingly sought after unmanned or virtual 

office/mailbox services for their “offices” (Exhibits 73, 

71, 70, 65) 

v. They knowingly paid for those mailbox services and used 

them during their business operations. In fact, they were 

served at one of them and received those documents.  

 

i) With intent to induce reliance 

i. Defendant claims they have 250,000 creators using their 

products as of 2025 (Exhibit 77) an the largest fleet of 

mocap systems in the world (Exhibit 81) 

ii. Defendant promotes with quality, beautiful, trustworthy 

advertising to lure customers, then openly admits in their 

terms and conditions, that any reliance on their false 

advertising is non-actionable. (Exhibit 102) 

iii. Defendant has taken over $80M of venture capital money 

using their widely and proudly displayed “world 

presence” as a clear sign of growth, stability and 

capability and clearly designed to induce reliance not 

only for investors by building false trust, but also to 
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consumers, like Plaintiff, who believed the ads and their 

“popularity” when it was demonstrably and materially 

false. 

iv. Defendant has taken venture capital money 

simultaneously for their Parallel Company using the 

“success” of their primary venture (Rokoko) as a way to 

induce reliance of trust to investors. 

j) And causing actual harm or reliance 

i. Consumers like Plaintiff have been mislead by believing 

the advertising, believing the size of the company and it’s 

growth and considering that as a marker of measurable 

success both in innovation but increasing market share 

and functional capacity.  

ii. Investors have spent likely well over $130M hoping for 

returns from a company who lied about the size and 

locations of their staff, capabilities, purpose, goals, 

possible returns, their “world presence”, their “teams” of 

workers around the world and even more simply – that 

their intent is to actually sell, provide and maintain 

products to consumers; which has been shown to be a 

falsity in this cause of action.  

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 72 

104. PLAINTIFF AS A CONSUMER QUALIFIES TO SUE FOR FRAUD 

California law allows a private party (consumer or investor) to sue for fraud 

when four prongs are satisfied: 

 

k) Exposed to misrepresentation: Plaintiff was induced by Defendant’s 

misrepresentations to make a purchasing decision he would not have 

made otherwise. Specifically, Defendant’s publicly disseminated 

claims — including representations that Defendant employed 100+ 

staff globally, operated full offices with “teams” in multiple major 

cities, and had reliable product infrastructure and support pipelines — 

were material, repeated, and designed to instill confidence in buyers. 

These representations were not general puffery; they were concrete 

factual assertions used in both investor pitch decks and consumer-

facing marketing, contradicted only in practice and hidden terms and 

conditions. Plaintiff viewed, relied on, and reasonably believed these 

representations to be true at the time of purchase. If Defendant did not 

represent their products int his capacity, Plaintiff would not have 

purchased from Defendant. Defendant’s statements were a primary 

factor in causing Plaintiff’s injury, satisfying the inducement element 

of fraud as provided in (Lazar v. Superior Court (12 Cal.4th 631), 

Engalla v. Permanente Medical Group (15 Cal.4th 951), and 

Roddenberry v. Roddenberry (44 Cal.App.4th 634)) 
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l) Induced by: Plaintiff spent around $6,000 with no prior experience 

with the product due to the aforementioned in (a). 

 

m) Relied on it: Reiterates (a) and (b) 

 

n) Suffered Harm: This is a claim for multiple damages, including but 

not limited to tortious interference with prospective economic 

advantage. Harm is well established. 

 

 

 

THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT  

 

105. Plaintiff asserts he is not seeking damages for fraudulent concealment or 

spoliation only that the Court recognize it, and it’s evidence is a matter of 

record and at all times while making decisions upon this case. 

 

106. Plaintiff alleges on or about May 1st, 2025, Defendant requested 

arbitration in ODR for the original matter which was moved to civil court.  
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107. Plaintiff, prior to any negotiations demanded proof of operations, staff and 

inventory, which Defendant declined to provide.  

 

108. Plaintiff hereby reiterates the facts within and admits the ODR chat 

transcripts onto the Courts record. 

 

109. PROOF OF FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT  / SPOLIATION 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant spoliated key evidence as alleged and shown 

in the 7th, 8th, 9th and 10th causes of action to make his terms and conditions no 

longer include self-incriminating admissions against interest as litigation had 

begun. 

 

110. Plaintiff has retained proof of this event on multiple types of media 

including but not limited to photo, (Video exhibit 172), recordings, snapshots, 

third party verifications, etc. 

 

Zoomed in: 

 

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 75 

111. Defendant’s own email notice reinforces this claim, as it clearly outlines 

that Defendant (a) stated they planned to misappropriate and (b) infringe on 

that intellectual property and (c) strip metadata from the intellectual property 

and (c) retroactively modify existing contracts without assent and (d) force 

Plaintiff and consumers into the agreement “or else” disallow the use of 

products already purchased and paid in full without condition. 

 

 

112. This e-mail is a express admission against interest, reinforces Plaintiff’s 

claims of spoliation and fraudulent concealment and resurrects the now 

deleted unconscionable terms of service through this reiteration and linking of 

and to the exact evidentiary document in question. 

 

113. TAMPERING WITH HISTORICAL ACCESS TO CONTRACTUAL 

MATERIAL  
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This terms and conditions page existed in the condition that Plaintiff has 

indicated in this document prior to May 1st, 2025 and had history dating back 

to around 2019. However, due to either DMCA takedown, personal request, or 

robots.txt or another method of soft-takedown. Defendant has removed all 

historical traces of the prior terms and conditions and now the 2019-2025 

history of this page is entirely vanished: 

 

https://web.archive.org/web/20250000000000*/https://www.rokoko.com/studi

o-term-of-use 

 

 

114. The evidence in question is the terms of use at the center of the Complaint 

located at https://www.rokoko.com/studio-term-of-use. Defendant modified 

this information on or about May 1st, 2025 at 7:59:21 as their website code 

shows a clear “last published” date and time (Exhibit 158). Issued by their 

web designer software, uploaded to their server, published on their website, 

from their staff – by them.  

https://web.archive.org/web/20250000000000*/https:/www.rokoko.com/studio-term-of-use
https://web.archive.org/web/20250000000000*/https:/www.rokoko.com/studio-term-of-use
https://www.rokoko.com/studio-term-of-use
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115. Plaintiff asserts, as multiple warnings of litigation had occurred prior, and 

that Plaintiff had filed a case against Plaintiff that was now active, to which 

Plaintiff knew or should have known the breadth of, and that Plaintiff 

willfully suppressed this information with changes to complicate the matter 

before the Court by fraudulent practices and disrupt the discovery process: the 

Court should recognize that Plaintiff willfully spoliated critical key evidence. 

 

116. RULES, PENALTIES AND INSTRUCTION FOR SPOLIATION 

In determining what inferences to draw... the trier of fact may consider 

whether one party has suppressed evidence.” -- California Evidence Code 

§413 

 

117. “The destruction of evidence... permits an inference that the evidence 

would have been adverse to the party that destroyed it.” (Gaines v. Fidelity 

National Title Ins. Co., 62 Cal.4th 1081 (2016)) 

 

118. “The court may impose a monetary sanction, issue an evidence sanction, 

issue a terminating sanction... against anyone engaging in conduct that is a 

misuse of the discovery process.” (California Code of Civil Procedure 

§2023.030) 
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119. “A party’s intentional destruction of evidence relevant to the litigation 

may support an inference that the destroyed evidence would have been 

unfavorable to that party.” – (Williams v. Russ, 167 Cal.App.4th 1215 (2008)) 

 

120. “Intentional destruction of relevant evidence is gross negligence or 

willful misconduct. The appropriate remedy is dismissal when the loss is 

irreparable.” (Pension Comm. v. Banc of America, 685 F. Supp. 2d 456 

(S.D.N.Y. 2010)) 

 

121. “When a party’s bad faith conduct results in spoliation that completely 

deprives the other side of a meaningful ability to litigate, dismissal is 

appropriate.” (Micron Technology, Inc. v. Rambus Inc., 645 F.3d 1311 

(Fed. Cir. 2011)) 

 

122. CORPORATE VEIL SHOULD BE PIERCED 

Defendant in Exhibit 168, openly stated: “You have involved our Board of 

Directors and they are now also briefed on the case and fully behind us, 

whichever route we choose to take. We are ready to go to trial, if needed.”. 

This statement is Defendant’s own action which “creates a unity of interest 

and ownership in which the separate personalities no longer exist.” 

(Associated Vendors, Inc. v. Oakland Meat Co. (1962) 210 Cal.App.2d 825, 

837) 

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, FRAUD, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

THEFT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, AND RELATED CLAIMS) - 79 

123. Plaintiff asserts for the allegations herein including but not limited to the 

unification of separate personalities into this matter, the claims of fraud, 

misappropriation, willful ongoing tortious interference conduct and the 

spoliation of evidence: Defendant’s corporate veil should be pierced and not 

be used allowed shield them, nor their shell corporations, investors, 

subsidiaries or any natural persons from liability in any manner contained 

herein. 

 

"Plaintiffs alleged a complex web of LLCs and corporations operated as a 

single enterprise with a common business purpose, common ownership, and 

intermingled assets..." (Greenspan v. LADT, LLC, 191 Cal.App.4th 486 

(2010)) 

 

"When the corporate veil is used to promote injustice, courts will disregard it 

to reach the responsible parties." (United States v. Bestfoods, 524 U.S. 51 

(1998)) 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment in his 

favor and against Defendant, and award the following: 
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1. General Damages in an amount no less than $1,250,000, for lost 

production, commercial disruption, development delays, and associated 

opportunity costs resulting from Defendant’s breach of warranty, failure to repair, 

and refusal to honor lawful obligations under California Civil Code §1793.2 and 

§1794. 

 

2. Restitution and reliance damages in an amount to be proven at trial, but 

not less than $250,000, for equipment loss, time investment, labor reallocation, 

and project interruption caused directly by Defendant’s willful conduct and 

misrepresentations. 

 

3. Statutory damages for each act of infringement, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 

504(c)(1), in an amount no less than $750 and no more than $30,000 per 

work, subject to proof at trial. 

 ($22,500 per work x 30 pieces upheld $675,000 - Sony BMG Music Ent. v. 

Tenenbaum, 660 F.3d 487 (1st Cir. 2011)) 

 

4. Damages for willful infringement in an amount deemed by the Court to be 

just and proper of no more than $150,000  as provided by 17 U.S.C. § 504(c)(2). 

 

5. Statutory damages for removing or hiding metadata/attribution of IP 

works as the Court deems just and proper of a sum not less than $2,500 or not 
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more than $25,000 as provided by 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B) 

 

6. Statutory damages and civil penalties pursuant to California Civil Code 

§1794(c), up to two times actual damages, based on Defendant’s willful and 

knowing violation of warranty obligations, lack of repair infrastructure, and 

systemic refusal to comply with California consumer law. 

 

7. Punitive damages in an amount no less than $4,000,000, based on 

Defendant’s fraudulent inducement, willful concealment of repair limitations, 

deceptive business practices, and reckless disregard for the rights of consumers, 

artists, and developers who rely on functional equipment to meet commercial 

deadlines. Plaintiff has satisfied clear and convincing evidence of pression, fraud 

or malice to satisfy this condition pursuant to CA Civ. Code § 3294 

 

8. Costs of suit, including all filing, service, and litigation expenses borne by 

Plaintiff. 

 

9. Pre- and post-judgment interest, as permitted by law. 

 

10. Any and all further relief the Court deems just and proper. 
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Dated this 9th of May, 2025: 

 

Matthew R. Walsh 

Plaintiff In Pro Per 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 1 
Rokoko claiming in 2022 they had sold 1,000 SmartSuit II’s already.  

 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 2 
Rokoko user complaining Rokoko took their money, shipped nothing, refused refund. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 3 
Rokoko creative director on the defense in reddit. Reiterates the 30-day money back policy. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 4 
Rokoko user review stating they had not received their suit even after 1 year. Refusal to ship, refusal to refund.  

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 5 
Rokoko user calling out Rokoko and threatening a $200M class action against the company for taking money, 

not shipping and also accusing them of violating the public trust. 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 6 
Rokoko users stating Rokoko will not cancel order or ship units and that their equipment is not quality. 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 7 
Search results on Rokoko’s official reddit page showing other users had bricked suits, firmware, sensor issues 

around the same time that Plaintiff did. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 8 
Rokoko user stating the sensors failed and Rokoko support is not available. 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 9 
Rokoko user claiming the same failures as Plaintiff’s equipment. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 10 
Rokoko user claiming the same failures as Plaintiff’s equipment, support staff unavailable. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 11 
Rokoko user claiming the same failures as Plaintiff’s equipment, support staff unavailable. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 12 
Rokoko user experiencing sensor issues, support staff refusing to address it, reiterating the same non-working 

“fix” they recommended last time. 

 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 13 
Rokoko customer sharing complaints, claims Rokoko refused to refund. After months of repeatedly requesting 

a refund, Rokoko finally refunded. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 14 
Rokoko user claiming they have performed every possible fix, most of the sensors went bad. (around the same 

time Plaintiff’s suit was bricked by Defendant’s firmware update) 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 15 
Customers claiming returns and refunds take a long time along with billing complaints, customer service 

complaints and claims of “ghosting” and stealing money. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 16 
Continuation from #15 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 17 
Customer complaining the firmware update bricked the sensors. Other customers stating they had the same 

issues and had to return. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 18 
Customer claiming sensors are not working, cables do not fix the issue and customer service will not offer 

parts, repair or replacement per SONG-BEVERLY 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 19 
Defendant reaching out to a customer on Reddit advising them they have a sensor failure and to contact 

support. This shows Defendant monitors customer complaints and product issues but ignores the majority of 

them. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 20 
Rokoko users complaining hardware doesn’t work, support delays and deflects and can take weeks to reply. 

One user complains about sensor errors. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 21 
Customer complaining about sensor errors, Defendant follows them on social media back. 

 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 22 
A customer complaining about paying for equipment only to have Defendant make excuses about shipping 

dates, refusing to refund, refusing the even reverse the payment, advertising 30 day refund, project halted. No 

customer support interaction. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 23 
Customer stating Defendant states weekly they will ship the suit but it took months to arrive. When some of 

the hardware arrives, it’s broken, additional multiple weeks for replacement, Defendant threatened to charge 

for replacement under warranty. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 24 
Customers complaining support takes months, shipped broken hardware, refusing to take accountability, 

blaming cables despite having instant, live diagnostic information to the contrary. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 25 
Customers complaining they have lost time and money on set due to equipment failures with live actors 

present. Defendant replies trying to assist. Defendant also admits the presence of external metadata. 

Customer complains about numerous issues, unable to use for 7 months. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 26 
Customer claiming they received an e-mail saying SmartSuit 2 just uses SmartSuit 1 electronics. Indicating 

availability of parts even for Plaintiff’s suit and that Defendant simply rebranded an old product as 

new/improved. 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 27 
Plaintiff’s suit showing sensor failures. Defendant claimed it was a cable issue. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 28 
Defendant showing missed deadline for video game submission to Nintendo and validation of SKU 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 29 
Rokoko software remotely signaled to disable Plaintiff’s account. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 30 
Defendant tracking even when a user looks at the settings window 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 31 
Defendant tracking when Plaintiff uses the software, how long he’s used it for and telemetry regarding his 

machine. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 32 
Continuation of 31 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 33 
Defendant’s software showing the programmatic existence of an opt-out, however, Defendant gives the user 

no ability over this feature. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 34 
Defendant’s software asking their servers to enumerate what intellectual property they have stored on their 

servers. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 35 
Continuation of 34, Defendant’s servers returning a complete list of Plaintiff’s intellectual property in which 

they now posses unauthorized. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 36 
Continuation of 35, Defendant’s server showing they have Plaintiff’s intellectual property from his video game 

“The Next World” 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 37 
Continuation of 36, Defendant showing they possess Plaintiff’s intellectual property for various scenes in ‘The 

Next World’ 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 38 
Continuation of 37, Plaintiff showing if he copies a scene and renames it to something like 

“WILLROKOKOTAKETHIS”, Defendant in fact, will take it. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 39 
Continued from 38, Defendant’s server showing they possess his intellectual property used in the playable 

vertical slice of his game. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 40 
Defendant’s software sends personally identifiable, private information to untrusted third parties without 

consent.  

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 41 
Defendant’s software showing a “skip_asset_sync” flag, a clear indication that opt-out of data sharing is clearly 

an existing feature, however, Defendant does not allow any opt-out of intellectual property/telemetry sharing. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 42 
Defendant’s software showing built-in customer service/support tracking features. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 43 
Continued from 42, Defendant’s servers stating that Defendant’s never logged any support issues in regards to 

Plaintiff 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 44 
Defendant’s software showing various firmware updates, file locations and developer notes. 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 45 
Continued from 44 

Proof Defendant does not make their own software, it is produced and maintained in Somalia. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 46 
Continued from 45, showing Defendant knew their products had WiFi/connectivity issues.  

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 47 
Continued from 46, Showing Defendant knowingly released firmware that breaks the compatibility of older 

hardware, this is proof of planned obsolescence.  

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 48 
Showing various releases and locations of the Rokoko Studio software. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 49 
Showing Defendant can send javascript code to any users computer and execute it secretly without the users 

authorization or knowledge.  

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 50 
Showing Defendant uses web-sockets for high-speed additional underlying communication (such as data event 

subscriptions and file upload to Defendants servers) 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 51 
Defendant’s software showing the Parallel Company’s AI module is integrated. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 52 
Large binary data being sent from Plaintiff’s computer to Defendant without authorization or knowledge. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 53 
Showing Defendant taking Plaintiff’s intellectual property from his computer where it resides and transferring 

it to them without provocation or authorization to do so. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 54 
Defendant’s software making some sort of request for data including verified services, personally identifiable 

information and imdb. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 55 
Defendant receiving Plaintiff’s physical body measurements. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 56 
Defendant’s software sending Plaintiff’s intellectual property for his video game to them. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 57 
 

Proof that Defendant receives instant, detailed, accurate information about hardware failures and causes. This 

image shows Defendant at all times knew Plaintiff’s sensors were malfunctioning but instead blamed it on 

cables. 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 58 
 

Defendant’s software sends them all hardware details of your machine including whether or not you own 

other products like “Oculus” 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 59 
Defendant is told when you even plug hardware into your USB ports. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 60 
Defendant tracks when your wifi settings change. 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 61 
Defendant stating they have a 1-year warranty on products 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 62 
Defendant claiming they offer repair services, including parts (cables and sensors) 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 63 
Defendant offering a generous 30-day return for refund policy 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 64 
Defendant’s website explicitly stating inventory and products and shipping come from the Copenhagen office, 

not a “third party logistics service” as Defendant argued 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 65 
Defendant’s Copenhagen headquarters. A 900sqft locked basement unit with no loading/shipping areas. 

Shared mailboxes in the walkway. Small sticker on door to establish commercial intent. Sep. 2024 

 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 66 
Continued from 65 – July 2022 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 67 
Continued from 66, Jan 2021 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 68 
Continued from 67 – October 2018 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 69 
 

Defendant openly admitting on their website that there is no San Francisco office, it’s simply a mailbox. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 70 
Defendant’s “San Francisco Office” where “teams” are present: 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 71 
Showing that Defendant’s “Athens Office” where “teams” are present, is actually Stone Soup, a virtual 

office/mailbox service 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 72 
Continued from 71 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 73 
Defendant’s “Los Angeles office” where “teams” work. 

 

 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 74 
Defendant stating they have “teams” located in Copenhagen, San Francisco, Los Angeles and Athens 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 75 
Showing Defendant’s parallel company selling an AI product which was trained using motion capture data 

stolen from Plaintiff and other Rokoko users. 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 76 
Defendant’s pitch deck to investors tying the Parallel Company directly to Defendant’s own company; making 

them one enterprise. 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 77 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 78 

 

NOTE: Modified by Plaintiff to unredact text. Demand original in discovery. 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 79 
Continued from 78, Defendant pitches to investors that Rokoko and Rokoko Care is the same enterprise and 

product line, using the same IP with the same management. 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 80 
Continued from 79, showing shared management including head of Roblox Studio, Stefano Corazza and former 

CPO of Unity, Brett Bibby 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 81 
Continued from 80, Defendant claiming to investors they sold consumers hardware to become “the largest 

fleet of mocap systems in the market” and admitting “we collect motion data that exponentially improves our 

ability to distill digital movement through machine learning”. They admit in 2024 alone they stole 90M pieces 

of intellectual property from users and claim they have sold around 135,000 motion capture systems in 

between 2021 and 2024 alone. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 82 
Continued from 81, showing Defendant at all times had planned to steal intellectual property from creators like 

Plaintiff, resell that data to third parties and train artificial intelligence while massively growing revenue year 

after year. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 83 
Continued from 82, showing Defendant in their own words state they steal intellectual property “From 

empowering creators…” and distribute it “… to the backbone of all digital movement” (namely, for-profit 

monetization by Defendant). 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 84 
Continued from 83, Defendant states the companies which benefit from the stollen intellectual property, 

including Roblox, which is headed by Rokoko board member Stefano Corazza  

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 85 
Continued from 84, Defendant claims they have “offices” in multiple major cities, although none of those 

locations are real. They state they have 50,000 users in 100+ countries, yet Exhibit 81 states about 135,000 

systems sold in just three years. Defendant also states 80 employees, 60% of which are engineers. Numbers 

that counteract all other accounts. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 86 
Continued from 85, Defendant admitting they collect VC money nearly every year and how much those 

amounts are. Despite having no office presences, no visible staff, no manufacturing or engineering workspaces 

or equipment, software made in Somalia and generally no physical infrastructure anywhere to be found. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 87 
Showing Defendant raised $3M on this pitch deck in the 2022 round. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 88 
Rokoko’s rocket-reach profile claims they have 118 employees and claims they have offices across the world. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 89 
Continued from 87, all of Defendant’s employees seem to have top-tier titles, everyone is a “CEO” or “VP” or 

“Director” or “Chairman” or “Lead” or “Owner” or “Manager” 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 90 
A shipping box from Defendant, sent from Copenhagen, return addressed to the Copenhagen office address 

with the COO Mikkel Overby’s name 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 91 
Continued from 90 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 92 
Continued from 91 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 93 
Continued from 92

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 94 
Technical logs from 2025 showing sensor failures, ignored by Defendant and instead recommended 

replacement wires for the second time. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 95 
 

Defendant’s Parallel Company registered to the same HQ address as Defendant’s primary business, lists 6 

employees, and 2 VC financing rounds since 2024 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 96 
Defendant’s Pitchbook page which shows the same office location as the Parallel Company 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 97 
Defendant is valued at   as of 2022 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 98 
Defendants company profile: $80M valuation 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 99 
Defendant’s financial statements showing false manipulations and exorbitant payments to staff. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 100 
Defendant’s financial statements claiming property, plants and equipment despite no physical locations of any 

kind, equity investments in other group entities, inventories of $37m and $30m respectively despite having no 

warehouse or inventory of any kind and only $1.3m banked cash (2023), claiming a total in assets of $106m 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 101 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 102 
Defendant’s terms of use that they are not liable for false advertising 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 103 
An email search showing Defendant only issued one single notification of change of terms ever. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 104 
Defendant’s software showing they resell animations for $3 each 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 105 
Tickets to Plaintiff’s live game event 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 106 
Plaintiff’s video game trailer up on IGN 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 107 
Plaintiff along with Ron Wasserman and actors in the sound studio. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 108 
Plaintiff’s on-site set production 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 109 
Plaintiff’s set production 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 110 
Plaintiff’s on-set production with cast and crew 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 111 
Plaintiff’s storyboarding 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 112 
Plaintiff’s 370 page script 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 113 
Plaintiff’s production set checklists for crew 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 114 
Plaintiff’s on-set actor position and movement diagrams 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 115 
Plaintiff along with Alexis Mincolla (3teeth) along with Ron Wasserman in the studio doing table reads prior to 

recording 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 116 
Plaintiff in the studio with the lead actor in the video game, Cody Derr during emotionally charged lines 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 117 
Plaintiff along with Ron Wasserman in the studio for vocals 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 118 
Plaintiff’s set production and crew instructions 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 119 
Plaintiff’s video game visual examples 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 120 
Plaintiff’s video game visual examples 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 121 
Plaintiff’s video game visual quality examples 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 122 
Plaintiff’s merchandising: character t-shirts 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 123 
Plaintiff directing solo-sessions in the sound studio 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 124 
Plaintiff’s TV / streaming series pitch deck  

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 125 
A portion of the pages from Plaintiff’s book. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 126 
Intentionally left blank 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 127 
Defendant states they do not produce or stock parts and they cannot be purchased. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 128 
Defendant stating 10/1 the equipment would be EOL’ed 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 129 
Defendant stating on 9/30 “officially speaking, the suit is no longer supported”, days before the support 

deadline expired. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 130 
Intentionally left blank 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 131 
One of the many social media promotions/tagging that Plaintiff performed to benefit Defendant 

 

 

 

 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 132 
Intentionally left blank 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 133 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 134 
Showing literal link between Rokoko Care and Coco 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 135 
Plaintiff asserting SONG-BEVERLY 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 136 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 137 
Proof of Defendant using the product(s) to generate intellectual property 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 138 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 139 
Plaintiff shows here, he already has a video game out for sale for multiple and major platforms. Releasing a 

game someday isn’t a dream, it’s a pattern of action. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 140 
Plaintiff’s video game trademark 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 141 
Metadata stored inside the Rokoko animation file that Defendant takes, strips out and resells. This data 

includes unique identifiers, authors name, equipment used, etc. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 142 
Additional metadata at the end of the file 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 143 
Defendant admits in writing that the two vehicles are one. 

 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 144 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 145 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 146 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 147 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 148 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 149 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 150 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 151 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 152 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 153 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 154 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 155 

 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 156 

  

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 157 
Defendant changed the name from Rokoko Care to Coco 7 months ago. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 158 
Evidence of Defendant’s spoliation 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 159 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 160 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 161 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 162 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 163 



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 164 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 165 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 166 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 167 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 168 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 169 
Defendant admitting to taking intellectual property, removing metadata, selling it to third parties and 

monetizing it as well as engaging in economic coercion to comply. 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 170 

 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 171 
 

“Demonstration of Rokoko Software's Unauthorized Data Exfiltration” 

Description: 

This video demonstrates Rokoko's software functioning fully offline without any need for online services. 

Shows a complete lack of user consent, notification or requirements of terms and conditions, and 

subsequently automatically begins exfiltrating data upon reconnection. It serves as evidence of unauthorized 

data collection and misappropriation of intellectual property especially Plaintiff’s. 

 

https://youtu.be/kk4I9zUXzH8 

 

Declaration of Authenticity 

I, Matthew R. Walsh, declare under penalty of perjury that the video linked above is a true and accurate 

representation of Rokoko's direct spoliation behavior as observed and recorded by me. The video has not been 

altered or edited since its original recording. Background music is present, streaming from the internet to 

reinforce the authenticity and uncut nature of the video.  

 

Certificate of Authenticity:  

The SHA-256 checksum of the original video file is: 

BE7116827CD408335436D823F350E69B74412498E66011B5A65D07B9D56BB61C 

  

https://youtu.be/kk4I9zUXzH8


WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 172 
“Demonstration of Defendant’s spoliation” 

Description: 

This video, recorded by Plaintiff, demonstrates Defendant's software executing destructive actions after legal 

notice had been given. Specifically, it captures the modifications of the terms and conditions this case hinges 

on, it includes Plaintiff’s own express admission as timestamped metadata records specifically show Defendant 

changed the terms and conditions after litigation began, while in ODR and after Plaintiff requested proof of 

office, staff and inventory.  

 

https://youtu.be/Xzld5QAwkVY 

 

Declaration of Authenticity 

I, Matthew R. Walsh, declare under penalty of perjury that the video linked above is a true and accurate 

representation of Rokoko's direct spoliation behavior as observed and recorded by me. The video has not been 

altered or edited since its original recording. Background music is present, streaming from the internet to 

reinforce the authenticity and uncut nature of the video. 

 

Certificate of Authenticity:  

The SHA-256 checksum of the original video file is: 

2E2578F566DFE010735987EB586965095D3FD90A11CC38E07B71152841F6ADD4 

  

https://youtu.be/Xzld5QAwkVY


WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 173 
“Proof that Rokoko misappropriates your intellectual property but TAKES it entirely” 

Description: 

This video, recorded by Plaintiff, shows that his animations created in Rokoko Studio are removed from his 

computer in their original format once Defendant takes them. This process is automatic, the user is never 

notified. There is no opt-in or opt-out for this feature, or terms anywhere in the software on signup or on login.  

 

https://youtu.be/mAqg-Yp0YHc  

 

Declaration of Authenticity 

I, Matthew R. Walsh, declare under penalty of perjury that the video linked above is a true and accurate 

representation of Rokoko's direct IP misappropriation and metadata stripping behavior as observed and 

recorded by me. The video has not been altered or edited since its original recording.  

 

Certificate of Authenticity:  

The SHA-256 checksum of the original video file is: 

6574E3E5BAAB083C3F832E1A94D0561F964B938E7DD47BAAE975A88BE91D2C81 

  

https://youtu.be/mAqg-Yp0YHc


WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 174 
“Rokoko’s logs, proof of opt-out code, evidence reinforcement, records SSID, deletion of local content” 

Description: 

This video, recorded by Plaintiff, shows that his animations created in Rokoko Studio are removed from his 

computer in their original format once Defendant takes them. This process is automatic, the user is never 

notified. There is no opt-in or opt-out for this feature, or terms anywhere in the software on signup or on login.  

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eNYmp1gmCAU  

 

Declaration of Authenticity 

I, Matthew R. Walsh, declare under penalty of perjury that the video linked above is a true and accurate 

representation of Rokoko's hidden opt-out features, log files, telemetry reporting, IP theft and deleting of local 

content behavior as observed and recorded by me. The video has not been altered or edited since its original 

recording.  

 

Certificate of Authenticity:  

The SHA-256 checksum of the original video file is: 

A2670487FC42B98D58C7029C427375F8494C978895A341AF0D8030B1865FE32F 

  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eNYmp1gmCAU


WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 175 
Defendant claiming it was a cabling issue despite the software instantly messaging to them that it was sensors 

and the log files sent to them proving otherwise. 

  



WALSH v ROKOKO ELECTRONICS - EXHIBITS 176 
Defendant, again, about a year later blaming it on cables saying “there are no sensor errors”, the logs he 

received and his own software told him otherwise. 

 

 

 

 

 


